
RFP 2016-0028 Litter Can Monitoring and Management 
Question and Answer 

 

1.   How is “regular operating conditions” defined?  What criteria should be used in determining regular 
operating conditions?    

Answer: Regular operating conditions means that sensors will be reporting at regular 6 hour intervals 
or at defined fill levels each day in temperatures from -10 to 100 degrees Fahrenheit.     

2.    In lieu of a minimum/scheduled 6-hour interval, would it be sufficient for containers to report at the 
start of each day, then report in at (3) configurable triggering event fill levels,  and upon container 
pickup?  

Answer: Yes, we are willing to consider reporting at the beginning of each day and at defined fill levels 
rather than at 6 hour intervals.  

3. Section 4.1.2 of Appendix D requires iOS compatibility. Would the city be willing to accept loaned, no-
cost Android devices for installation purposes, instead? 

Answer: Yes, this would be acceptable.   

4. Will the terms of the awarded contract allow other city, state or federal entities to “piggyback”? 

Answer: Yes, piggyback language can be added in during the contracting process. 

5. Section 1 of the RFP refers to over 2,000 street litter cans being serviced by DPW, but the 3-phased 
implementation includes a total of 1,435 litter cans only. Should the City choose to expand the 
deployment to the 2,000+ litter cans, will they be covered under the same awarded contract? 

Answer: The cans in our Central Business District are serviced by the Pittsburgh Downtown 
Partnership and most do not have hoods installed.  As a result, we do not see adding them to a 
monitoring program for the foreseeable future.  However, if that changes our intention would be to 
include those additional cans under the same awarded contract.   

6. Section 8.1.5 asks responders to assume a 3-year term for cost calculation purposes, but Appendix D – 
section 4.1.3 requires a 7-year battery life. Is the city open to agreeing to a term longer than 3 years? 

Answer: This contract will be set up for a 3 year term. Upon the final year of the agreement, the City 
will review best practices in the industry and next steps for contract agreements at that time. 

7. Per section 8.1.1 of the RFP, are companies required to disclose the names of all city employees we 
interacted with? 

Answer:  Companies should provide a high level response stating if they have worked with the City 
previously and a little summary stating what services were provided as another source of reference. 



8. Does the DPW have a specific operational savings goal targeted for this project?  If so what is the 
targeted savings? 

Answer: We are looking to reduce the hours spent on litter collection by 50% across all 6 maintenance 
divisions.   Hours saved will result in employee time that can be spent on other high-priority 
maintenance tasks rather than bottom line savings in DPW's operating budget.    
 

9. Who is going to be responsible for vandalism or theft of the sensors? 
 
Answer:  The City of Pittsburgh is asking vendors to explain financial responsibility for vandalism and 
theft as part of their RFP response.   

 
10. Will the City be allocating DPW personnel for service and support of the sensor deployment? 

 
Answer:  Yes, DPW personnel will be responsible for installation and deployment of the sensors with 
guidance and support from the selected vendor.   

 
11. Will you be allocating an annual maintenance budget for the sensors? 

 
Answer:  Yes, DPW plans to allocate a contingency in our operating budget to cover the purchase 
of sensors required for new litter cans and ongoing maintenance of deployed units.   

 
12. How many of the Victor Stanley litter cans that are called out in the project phases, have domed tops?  

 
Answer:  The City is standardizing our litter can inventory over the next two years. Our intention is to 
have domed tops on all litter cans covered in the scope of this implementation. 

 
13. Will the City be imposing ‘success criteria’ on each phase of the sensor deployment? That is, will certain 

savings goals or variables determine whether the City proceeds with each phase of the project, if any? 
 
Answer:  The City of Pittsburgh is asking vendors to show what success will look like through the 
sensor and software deployment and implementation plan. Let us know what your company’s 
capabilities are and what success factors are evaluated during this process. 

 
14. Does the City commit to deploying all 1,435 of the sensors outlined in the 3 phases described without 

success criteria? Within the timelines described? 
 
Answer:  The goal of the City is to implement these sensors within the timeline given but reserves the 
right to change deployment timeline if unforeseen needs arise. 

 
 
 
 
 



15. Why is the DPW not planning on monitoring litter cans located in the Central Business District, or litter 
cans located in the public parks? 
 
Answer:  We may evaluate deployment of monitoring in the Central Business District and our public 
parks at a later time.   The scope outlined in this RFP covers the litter cans that we believe offer the 
best chance for operational efficiency gains in the short term.   

 
16. Has the DPW determined an acceptable ‘fill level’ reading accuracy variance? + or – x% accuracy? 

 
Answer:  DPW wants fill level readings to be as accurate as possible - ideally +/- 10%; however, we 
recognize that some variance is inevitable.  Vendors should explain the fill level accuracy their 
solution can achieve, based on data from other current deployments, and explain how their 
technology will help to minimize fill level inaccuracy.   

 
17. Does the City have an acceptable “false full” rate? 

 
Answer:  We do not have a set false full rate; however, we encourage vendors to share their false full 
rates based on other current deployments and explain how their technology will help to minimize 
these instances.   
 

18. Does the City have a requirement for system uptime performance? 
 
Answer:  DPW is looking for a hosted technology solution that has a service availability of 99% or 
greater during any calendar year.  Service availability does not include time that the service is not 
accessible due to Scheduled Maintenance or Force Majeure Events.   
 

19. Is there a requirement to have the network servers and data housed in the US? 
 
Answer:  As a general policy the City requires that our data reside in the continental US. 
 

20. With regards to RFP No. 2016-0028, do any of the standard DPW litter cans (Victor Stanley Model # SD-
35) come with the optional lids listed below?  

 
·         Dome lid (with ashtray) 
·         Dome lid (without ashtray) 
·         Convex lid (with self-close door) 
·         Convex lid (without self-close door) 
·         Rain bonnet lid (with ashtray) 
·         Rain bonnet lid (without ashtray) 
·         Recycle lid 

 
Answer:  As part of this implementation the City will ensure that all cans have a domed lid.  Any can 
that does not have a lid will either be replaced or a lid will be added.  The attached spec is for our 
standard Victor Stanley lid.  See Appendix F attachment on Beacon. 
 



 
 

21. The RFP specifies Victor Stanley model SD-35. Please confirm if that is the correct specification. 
 

Answer: The original RFP was incorrect.  Victor Stanley model SD-42 is the standard model used by the 
City of Pittsburgh.  Please see the attached spec sheet.  See Appendix G attachment on Beacon. 
 

22.  Same question about the color of the litter can?  Is there a specific color for the litter cans as there 
seem to be several options?  This will affect the color of the enclosure for the hardware. 
 
Answer: The City of Pittsburgh has several can colors including green, black, and grey.  However, we 
are attempting to standardize our cans, so please assume black as the standard color. 
 

23. The Victor Stanley litter cans, Model# SD-35, with several options for the top of litter can.  Does the City 
of Pittsburg have a top on their litter Cans or various utilize options for the top to the litter can?  
 
Answer:  See response to #20. 
 

24.  Will the City of Pittsburgh provide information about special events (festivals, football games, or other 
events) that might affect the normal fill rates and collection of litter cans? 

Answer: The City of Pittsburgh does not plan to provide advance notification about special events to 
the selected vendor.  However, if you believe this is something we should consider please explain why 
this would be useful and how the information will be used by your company to improve the 
performance of your solution.   
 

25.  The proposal calls for a battery life of 7 years given a reporting period of 6 hours for each trash can.  Is 
this battery life spec a firm requirement?  The reason for the question is it will affect the choice of 
communication technology, battery technology, weight, type of attachment to the can to meet this 
requirement and may increase the cost.   
 
Answer: No, this is not a firm requirement.  However, battery life is an important consideration given 
the operational impact required for DPW staff to replace batteries or sensors on over 1,400 litter 
cans.   
 

26.  Is there Citywide Wi-Fi available in all areas outlined in the proposal?  And if yes does it have a secure 
access for the City of Pittsburgh? 
 
Answer: No, there is not city-wide wifi available.   
 
  
 
 

27. Does the litter can need to communicate directly to the cloud or can it communicate to a concentrator 
device to send the data to the cloud?  



 
Answer: We are open to any communication method that would provide us with timely, up-to-date 
data about litter can fill rates. 
 

28. Will there be a chance for site reviews as there are concerns for radio coverage for Wi-Fi and cellular 
coverage especially in the downtown Pittsburg where “urban canyon” might exist?  
 
Answer: Site reviews may be held if deemed necessary after the participants are shortlisted from their 
initial proposal response. 
 

29. What is the “Letter of Transmittal” referred to in section 8.1.1 of the RFP? 

 Answer: The letter of transmittal should be set up as a cover letter with summary content 
regarding the intent of your proposal response. 

Note: The City of Pittsburgh may request to do a limited pilot to test technology with companies 
prior to award and implementation to get real world experience with the sensors and the 
software. 

 


